69349-2

69349-2 No. 693492-**2**-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## ALASKA STRUCTURES, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

## I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

#### A. Assignments of Error.

1

.

No. 1. The trial court erred in granting Hedlund's special motion to strike Alaska Structures' breach of confidentiality agreement claim under Washington's Anti-SLAPP<sup>1</sup> statute, RCW 4.24.525. (CP 888-91.)

No. 2. The trial court erred in awarding Hedlund all of his attorneys' fees and costs under RCW 4.24.525. (CP 890.)

#### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.

Issue No. 1. Was Alaska Structures' claim for breach of confidentiality agreement relating to Hedlund's disclosure of non-public details about weaknesses in Alaska Structures' security system "based on an action involving public participation and petition under RCW 4.24.525(2)"? (CP 889.) (Assignment of Error No. 1.)

Issue No. 2. Was "the speech at issue"—Hedlund's disclosure on a website of non-public details about weaknesses in Alaska Structures' security system—"submitted in a public forum in connection with an issue of public concern"? (CP 890.) (Assignment of Error No. 1.)

Issue No. 3. Was Hedlund's disclosure of non-public details about weaknesses in Alaska Structures' security system—when he had signed a confidentiality agreement in which he agreed to limit his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation."

disclosure of certain information about Alaska Structures during and after his employment with the company—"lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern, or in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition"? (CP 890.) (Assignment of Error No. 1.)

1

.

Issue No. 4. Where Alaska Structures established a valid confidentiality agreement signed by Hedlund, that the details Hedlund disclosed about its security system were not generally known, and that it suffered harm as a result of Hedlund's disclosure, and Hedlund admitted to making the statement at issue and failed to offer any basis to invalidate the confidentiality agreement, did the trial court err in finding that Alaska Structures "ha[d] failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing" on its claim for breach of confidentiality agreement? (CP 890.) (Assignment of Error No. 1.)

Issue No. 5. Did the trial court err in awarding Hedlund attorneys' fees and costs in connection with a Georgia court proceeding to which he was not a party and in which Alaska Structures prevailed when the governing statute only provides for an award of fees and costs "incurred in connection with each motion on which the moving party prevailed"? RCW 4.24.525(6)(a)(i). (CP 890, 906-08.) (Assignment of Error No. 2.)

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

.

.

#### A. Hedlund's Confidentiality Agreement With Alaska Structures.

Appellant Alaska Structures is an Alaska corporation that builds and sells fabric-covered buildings and structures and related products to the U.S. military and others. (CP 267 ( $\P$  1), 598 ( $\P$  2).) Alaska Structures' executive offices are located in Kirkland, Washington. (CP 598 ( $\P$  2).) Respondent Charles Hedlund was employed by Alaska Structures from February 2007 to January 2010. (CP 599 ( $\P$  3).)

As part of its efforts to maintain the confidentiality of information about proprietary and confidential aspects of its business as well as that of its customers, Alaska Structures requires its employees to sign confidentiality agreements when they are hired. (CP 598-99 (¶¶ 2-3).) Hedlund was asked to, and did, sign an "At Will" Employment Agreement ("Employment Agreement") and a Confidentiality, Work Product, and Noncompete Agreement ("Confidentiality Agreement") on February 12, 2007, at the start of his employment with Alaska Structures. (CP 599 (¶ 3), 604-13.) He was given an opportunity to read the agreements before signing them and was not coerced into signing them. (CP 599 (¶ 3).)

Hedlund's Employment Agreement expressly incorporated the Confidentiality Agreement and stated that the terms of the latter agreement would survive termination of his employment. (CP 605 (§ 8).) By signing the Confidentiality Agreement, Hedlund agreed to limit his disclosure of certain information about Alaska Structures during and after his employment: "Employee shall not, during the term of Employee's relation with Employer, or at any time thereafter, either directly or indirectly, disclose or permit the disclosure of, reproduce, or in any other way publicly or privately disseminate, any Confidential Information . . . belonging to Employer to any Third Party[.]" (CP 609 (§ 1.1).)

1

.

The Confidentiality Agreement defined "Confidential Information" broadly as any "information, whether oral, written, or otherwise recorded, which derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other persons or entities who can obtain economic value from its use or disclosure," and provided a non-comprehensive list of examples. (CP 609 (§ 1.2).) "Confidential Information" was also defined to include but not be limited to "trade secrets and confidential technical or business information." (CP 609 (§ 1.2).)

# B. Hedlund's Internet Posting About Weaknesses in Alaska Structures' Security System.

While Hedlund was employed by Alaska Structures, Dylan Schneider, the company's CIO, installed security measures at the company's Kirkland office consisting of consumer-grade, off-the-shelf software and cameras that could be purchased by consumers ("2008-2009 Security Measures"). (CP 599 ( $\P$  5).) Schneider was not known to have experience installing such security systems. (CP 599 ( $\P$  5).) Hedlund was present in the office during times when Schneider was installing the 2008-2009 Security Measures and appeared agitated by a camera installed on the ceiling behind his desk. (CP 599 ( $\P$  6).)

1

.

Alaska Structures' Kirkland office was burglarized on March 1 and March 7, 2010. (CP 600 ( $\P$  7).) At the time of the March 1st burglary, Alaska Structures was relying on the 2008-2009 Security Measures installed by Schneider, which failed to capture good images of the perpetrators. (CP 600 ( $\P$  8).) Immediately after the first burglary, Alaska Structures contracted with a private security firm to install a monitored alarm system to supplement the 2008-2009 Security Measures that remained in place when the March 7th burglary occurred. (CP 600 ( $\P$  8).) The monitored system was not properly installed, however, and was not functioning when the second burglary occurred. (CP 343, 600 ( $\P$  8).)

On August 12, 2011, an anonymous user posted a message on the "Alaska Structures Jobs Forum" on Indeed.com in a thread entitled "Alaska Structures Interview Questions" that stated in part:

> "Proper security is a must" I doubt if the military gives a rat's behind if any of our enemies get their hands on any top secret tent designs. "Oh

No! Terrorists might have as good billeting accommodations as our troops!" Furthermore, the security measures at AKS are all consumer-grade off the shelf fare installed by the former CIO, who had no prior security experience. AKS was broken into in 2010 and much of the server and several workstations were stolen, containing vast amounts of company information. They didn't have email for a few weeks. The cheap cameras provided no clues as to the identity of the thieves. That is why they now have the high-tech security precaution of human guards.

.

.

(CP 600 ( $\P$  9), 615.) ("August 12th Posting"). Hedlund is the admitted author of the posting. (CP 276-77 ( $\P$  14), 331.)

The 2008-2009 Security Measures installed by Schneider during Hedlund's employment were still in use at Alaska Structures' Kirkland office at the time of Hedlund's August 12th Posting. (CP 600 (¶ 10).) For that reason, and because the weaknesses of the security system were disclosed in the context of prior burglaries, Matt Triplett, Alaska Structures' Director of Corporate Management, was concerned that thieves would be encouraged to again burglarize Alaska Structures. (CP 598 (¶ 1), 601 (¶ 12).) Additionally, in late August 2011 and September 2011, following the August 12th Posting, many of the company's employees were traveling for business, leaving one or two young female employees alone at the Kirkland office. (CP 601 (¶ 14).) Triplett became concerned that the disclosure of weaknesses in Alaska Structures' security system in the August 12th Posting increased the risk the office would be burglarized when these workers were alone at the office. (CP 601-02 ( $\P$  14).) Therefore, Alaska Structures increased the number of security shifts at its Kirkland office in August and September 2011, at a cost of \$3,821. (CP 602 ( $\P$  14-15), 617-18.)

#### C. Procedural History.

.

Alaska Structures filed this action on August 18, 2011, in King County Superior Court against "John Doe" for breach of contract relating to the August 12th Posting. (CP 1-3.) On August 24, a Letter Rogatory issued to a Connecticut court to enable Alaska Structures to subpoena Indeed.com to identify the author of the August 12th Posting. (CP 6-7, 635-36 (¶ 3).) Information obtained in response to the subpoena to Indeed.com connected the IP address of the user to Cox Communications, which has a principal office in Atlanta, Georgia. (CP 636 (¶¶ 5-6).)

On August 30, a Letter Rogatory was issued to a Georgia superior court. (CP 636 ( $\P$  7), 665-67.) In response to a subpoena, Cox Communications identified a single subscriber assigned the relevant IP address and notified that subscriber that records had been subpoenaed that would reveal his identity. (CP 637 ( $\P\P$  9-10).) The subscriber, acting anonymously through his attorney, filed an objection to the subpoena and served it on Cox Communications, which would not provide the subscriber information to Alaska Structures until the subscriber's objection was resolved. (CP 275 (¶ 4), 637 (¶ 10).) Alaska Structures initially filed a motion to enforce the subpoena to Cox Communications in King County Superior Court but after the anonymous subscriber objected to that court's jurisdiction, it filed the petition in the Georgia superior court. (CP 637 (¶11).)

.

On February 10, 2012, the Georgia court granted Alaska Structures' petition to enforce the subpoena to Cox Communications. (CP 637 (¶ 12), 674-97.) Among other findings, the court found "the information in [the August 12th Posting] to be more detailed than what is provided by the news reports submitted by John Doe" and that "John Doe" had "in no way demonstrated that the information provided in the . . . posting . . . was not confidential and was either 'known' or 'readily ascertainable' to the general public[.]" (CP 692.)

Following the Georgia court's order granting Alaska Structures' petition, Cox Communications identified the subscriber as Charles W. Hedlund of Arizona. (CP 276 (¶ 11), 637 (¶ 13), 699-703.) And in a deposition on March 16, 2012, Charles W. Hedlund identified his son, Charles J. Hedlund, as the author of the August 12th Posting. (CP 276 (¶ 12), 638 (¶ 14).) On April 16, Alaska Structures amended its complaint to name Charles J. Hedlund, the respondent herein. (CP 267-71.)

On June 18, 2012, Hedlund filed a Special Motion to Strike

BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 8 {146532.DOC } Pursuant to RCW 4.24.525 and Motion for CR 11 Sanctions Against

Plaintiff and its Attorneys, (CP 439-56), which Alaska Structures opposed

on July 5, 2012 (CP 569-97). After Hedlund filed his reply in support of

his motion on July 12, (CP 710-15), Alaska Structures sought leave to file

a sur-reply (CP 834-79). Hedlund responded on August 15 (CP 880-85)

and Alaska Structures replied on August 16 (CP 886-87).

On August 17, the trial court held a hearing on Hedlund's motion

to strike at the end of which it orally granted the motion finding that the

action was "subject to the SLAPP statutes" but denied his request for CR

11 sanctions. (RP at 49:1-3, 49:13-16, 50:2.) The court also stated:

I have to tell you, even coming at it from so many different directions in terms of trying to really see whether or not this posting could really come within that confidentiality agreement, which is why I posed the questions, I have come clearly to the conclusion that it does not. And I recognize that people may disagree with my conclusion at the end of the day, but I am granting the motion to strike.

In granting the motion to strike, I just have to say this. I am not doing it because of some larger policy question or some of the things that counsel mentioned in her rebuttal. I recognize and respect the legislative role here, but it is not because of some ideological battle that this court is coming to the conclusion that this is of public concern, subject to the SLAPP statute, and therefore, that is why I am striking. I just see this as a pure legal and factual analysis, and that is why I am doing that.

(RP at 49:4-11, 49:17-50:1.) The court awarded Hedlund \$10,000 and his

BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 9 {146532.DOC }

reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. (RP at 50:2-7, 52:6-9.)

.

.

On August 24, the trial court adopted Hedlund's proposed written order, granting his motion to strike and denying his request for CR 11 sanctions. (CP 888-91.) In that order, the court found (1) "that the claim in question is based on an action involving public participation and petition under RCW 4.24.525(2)"; (2) "that the speech at issue is a written statement submitted in a public forum in connection with an issue of public concern"; (3) "that the matter concerns lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern, or in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition"; and (4) "that the Plaintiff has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." (CP 889-90.)

In addition to the \$10,000 statutory award, the trial court awarded Hedlund "his reasonable attorney's fees and all costs incurred in this action to date, including fees and costs incurred in connection with the Georgia proceedings related to the subpoena to Cox Communications." (CP 890.) The parties subsequently stipulated to a \$38,860.30 award representing the total amount of Hedlund's attorneys' fees and costs, subject to Alaska Structures' right to appeal the award—as distinguished from the amount—of fees and costs to Hedlund. (CP 899-903.) The trial court entered an order on the parties' stipulation followed by judgment in Hedlund's favor on November 19, 2012. (CP 904-08.)

.

Alaska Structures filed its Notice of Appeal of the grant of Hedlund's special motion to strike on September 21, 2012. (CP 892-98.)

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Notwithstanding Hedlund's arguments below, this case is not about an employer trying to prevent former employees from speaking about purported workplace "improprieties." Rather, this is a contract dispute that presents a discrete issue—whether Alaska Structures is entitled to pursue its claim for relief for Hedlund's disclosure, in violation of his Confidentiality Agreement, of non-public details about weaknesses in Alaska Structures' security system learned during his employment. Applying Washington's Anti-SLAPP statute to such a dispute does nothing to further the purposes of that statute and, in fact, impinges on Alaska Structures' right to petition by denying it the opportunity to seek redress for Hedlund's violation of his Confidentiality Agreement.

Because Hedlund failed to satisfy his initial burden of establishing that Alaska Structures' breach of confidentiality agreement claim—based on his disclosure regarding the company's security system—involved an "issue of public concern," the trial court erred in granting his motion to strike. Indeed, Hedlund failed to show that his statement about the security system was of interest to anyone other than himself (and of course Alaska Structures) much less that the security system was part of an ongoing, public controversy. In light of that failure of proof, his motion should have been denied without any showing from Alaska Structures.

٠

.

Additionally and alternatively, because Hedlund agreed to limit his disclosure of certain information about Alaska Structures learned during his employment by signing the Confidentiality Agreement, he cannot use Washington's Anti-SLAPP statute to immunize himself from liability for violating that preexisting legal obligation.

Even if Hedlund had made the required threshold showing on his motion to strike, Alaska Structures established, by clear and convincing evidence, a probability of prevailing on its claim for Hedlund's breach of his Confidentiality Agreement based upon his disclosure of non-public details about weaknesses in the company's security system. For that separate reason, the trial court erred in granting Hedlund's motion and summarily dismissing with prejudice Alaska Structures' claim.

Finally, even if the Court affirms the grant of Hedlund's motion to strike, the trial court erred in awarding him attorneys' fees and costs in connection with the Georgia proceeding to which he was not a party and in which Alaska Structures prevailed in its petition to enforce the subpoena to Cox Communications.

#### IV. ARGUMENT.

#### A. Standard of Review.

.

.

Washington courts apparently have not yet articulated a specific standard of review applicable to decisions on motions to strike under RCW 4.24.525. *But see Skimming v. Boxer*, 119 Wn. App. 748, 757, 82 P.3d 707 (2004) (applying de novo review to construction of original anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.510). But, as discussed below (*see infra* pp. 15-17), Washington's Anti-SLAPP statute was modeled on California's and therefore courts interpreting and applying Washington's statute have looked to California decisions as persuasive authority. *See, e.g., Phoenix Trading, Inc. v. Kayser*, Case No. C10-0920JLR, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 81432, \*16 (W.D. Wash. July 25, 2011); *Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc.*, 738 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1110 (W.D. Wash. 2010).

California courts review decisions on anti-SLAPP motions de novo. *See, e.g., Dyer v. Childress*, 147 Cal. App. 4th 1273, 1279, 55 Cal. Rptr. 3d 544 (2007); *Consumer Justice Ctr. v. Trimedica Int'l, Inc.*, 107 Cal. App. 4th 595, 599, 132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 191 (2003). Consequently, a de novo standard of review presumptively applies to the trial court's decision granting Hedlund's motion to strike Alaska Structures' claim for breach of confidentiality agreement under RCW 4.24.525.

Both states' statutes contain identical language regarding the

materials a court should consider in making its determination under the respective statutes. *See, e.g.*, CAL. CODE OF CIV. PROC. § 425.16(b)(2) ("[T]he court shall consider the pleadings, and supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based."); RCW 4.24.525(4)(c) ("[T]he court shall consider pleadings and supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based."). Further, California courts "neither weigh credibility [nor] compare the weight of the evidence. Rather, [they] accept as true the evidence favorable to the plaintiff . . . and evaluate the defendant's evidence only to determine if it has defeated that submitted by the plaintiff as a matter of law." *Dyer*, 147 Cal. App. 4th at 1279 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Du Charme v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers*, 110 Cal. App. 4th 107, 112, 1 Cal. Rptr. 3d 501 (2003).

#### B. Washington's Amended Anti-SLAPP Statute, RCW 4.24.525.

Washington's Anti-SLAPP statute provides for a special early motion to strike "any claim that is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 4.24.525(4)(a). The statute was intended, in part, to "[s]trike a balance between the rights of persons to file lawsuits and to trial by jury and the rights of persons to participate in matters of public concern." Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 1(2)(a).

Washington's statute prescribes a two-step, burden-shifting inquiry

.

on a special motion to strike. Hedlund, as the moving party, had "the initial burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 4.24.525(4)(b). The statute defines an "action involving public participation and petition" to include, as relevant here, any statement made "in a place open to the public or a public forum in connection with an issue of public concern" or any lawful conduct "in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern." RCW 4.24.525(2)(d), (e). Only if Hedlund made that threshold showing should the burden have shifted to Alaska Structures "to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on [its] claim." RCW 4.24.525(4)(b).

The statute provides for a \$10,000 penalty and an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs if a special motion to strike is granted. RCW 4.24.525(6)(a)(i), (ii).

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