· 64349-8

09349-2

### NO. 69349-2-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

ALASKA STRUCTURES, INC.

Appellant,

v.

CHARLES J. HEDLUND,

Respondent.

#### CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michele Earl-Hubbard WSBA No. 26454 Allied Law Group LLC P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 (206) 443-0200 (Phone) (206) 428-7169 (Fax)





#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is a lawsuit by an employer Alaska Structures ("AKS") against a former employee Charles J. Hedlund ("Hedlund") alleging a "breach of a confidentiality agreement" based on a portion of single post on an internet web forum more than a year and a half after Hedlund left the company based on events that occurred after Hedlund left the company. AKS initiated litigation in three states—Washington, Georgia and Arizona-to silence Hedlund and sued him here in Washington after learning his name and the fact he had left the company before the events described and that the information published was a matter of public record, commonly known, and the subject of numerous police reports and new reports. AKS was warned numerous times that its suit against Hedlund was frivolous and subject to dismissal pursuant RCW 4.24.525, the Anti-SLAPP statute. As AKS has persisted in litigating this meritless action, Hedlund respectfully asks that this Court uphold the dismissal below and order granting the Anti-SLAPP Motion, but to additionally award CR 11 sanctions against AKS for its pursuit of the case and appeal.

#### II. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Alaska Structures ("AKS") manufactures and sells tents.

One of its customers is the United States military, and AKS promotes itself as a primary supplier of tents to the U.S. military in Iraq,

Afghanistan, and elsewhere. Charles J. Hedlund worked at AKS for just under three years as a sales coordinator. CP 513-514, 792. He started in February 2007 and left in January 2010. <u>Id.</u> He has no memory of signing a "confidentiality agreement" with the company. CP 514. He knows he never signed away his right to report or publicize something he learned after he had left the company. <u>Id.</u>

On March 1, 2010, and March 7, 2010—several weeks <u>after</u>

Hedlund had stopped working for AKS—AKS was burglarized. The

burglaries were widely publicized on television news and in news papers.

See, e.g., 274-438. Public records about the burglaries reveal that then

AKS employee Dylan Schneider, who had no security experience (CP

436-438), oversaw the installation of a security system in the week

following the first burglary and before the second burglary, but it was not
activated on the night of the second burglary as it was "faulty". CP 334
347. Public records revealed that Schneider secretly installed hidden
cameras in the server room that captured pictures of the thieves during the
second burglary on March 7, 2010. CP 343. The image quality of these
secret cameras was described by police in their report as of "good quality"

Footage from the security cameras showing where the cameras were located and the quality of the footage as well as details of AKS's

security systems were made part of the police investigation and public records. CP 274-438.

On August 12, 2011—nineteen months after Hedlund had left his employment with AKS and seventeen months after the burglaries—
Hedlund posted a comments on the internet website forum Indeed.com under the screen name "Can you Smell the B.S.?" about the March 2010 burglaries in response to comments by two posters Hedlund believed to be AKS employees masquerading as job seekers to mislead the public. CP 513-567, 792-832. AKS has focused its lawsuit on one portion of this August 12, 2011, post that was in response Hooper's comment that "property security is a must". See CP 792, 800. The portion AKS now focuses on read:

"Proper security is a must"

I doubt if the military gives a rat's behind if any of our enemies get their hands on any top secret tent designs. "Oh No! Terrorists might have as good billeting accommodations as out troops!"

Furthermore, the security measures at AKS are all consumer-grade off the shelf fare installed by the former CIO, who had no prior security experience. AKS was broken into in 2010 and much of the server and several work stations were stolen, containing vast amounts of company information. They didn't have email for a few weeks. The cheap cameras provided no clues as to the identity of the thieves. That is why they now have the high-tech security precaution of human guards.

CP 812. The post was part of a chain of exchanges between Hedlund and several current employees of AKS masquerading as job seekers seeking to mislead other forum members about their lack of association with the company. CP 808,-832, 655. The posts related in part to the working conditions at AKS and the mistreatment of employees. **Id.** 

On August 18, 2011, six days later, AKS filed a lawsuit against Hedlund as a John Doe over this posting. CP 1-3. AKS has belatedly focused on the security portion of the posts and not the mistreatment or other claims. On August 24, 2011, AKS sought and obtained an Order Directing Issuance of Letters Rogatory from this Court for permission to subpoena Indeed.com to learn the identity of the poster. CP 6-7, 39-44. The request to the Court identified the single post from August 12, 2011. CP 41-42. From the production by Indeed.com, AKS determined the poster used an ISP registered to Cox Communications, and on August 30, 2011, AKS sought and obtained an Order Directing Issuance of Letters Rogatory to Cox. CP 52-74.

On September 16, 2011, Hedlund's attorney sent AKS's counsel and Cox Communications an objection to the Subpoena referencing the Anti-SLAPP provision in RCW 4.24.525. CP 100-124. On October 20, 2011, AKS asked the Washington trial court to enforce the subpoena issued to a Georgia entity. CP 8-14. Hedlund, through his counsel,

opposed, again citing the bar posed to this suit of RCW 4.24.525. CP 77-162. The trial court did not grant the Order sought, and AKS then filed a motion to compel in Georgia, requiring Hedlund to obtain Georgia counsel. CP 230-251. Hedlund's Georgia counsel pointed out that the posted information related to the burglaries contained no confidential information as it was a matter of public record and news reports, filing and serving AKS with numerous such records. CP 307-327. The Georgia Court was only provided with three short news articles, and not the police records provided here regarding the burglaries, and the Georgia Court was not told that the poster had left the company by the time of the robberies. CP 307-327.

AKS persisted in the Georgia action claiming the merit of the lawsuit should not be considered as the issue was simply the enforcement of the subpoena, and the Georgia court enforced the subpoena to Cox holding that Cox's customer lacked standing to make the speech arguments of Hedlund as the customer was not the speaker. CP 695. Cox disclosed that Charles W. Hedlund in Arizona was the customer to whom the ISP had been registered on the relevant day. AKS then initiated litigation in Arizona against Charles W. Hedlund, a 69-year-old retiree (CP 265-266), and deposed him to determine who had posted the comment. CP 705-708.

Charles W. Hedlund revealed at his deposition that Charles J. Hedlund, his son, had used his computer on August 12, 2011, but that he had no direct knowledge of his son having posted the Indeed.com comment. CP 707-708.

On April 16, 2012, AKS filed an amended complaint naming Charles J. Hedlund as the Defendant in this lawsuit. CP 267-273. It falsely alleged that the posting about the burglaries and security system violated a confidentiality agreement. Id. AKS knew, or should have known, that Hedlund had left his employment with AKS after less than two three years in January 2010, several weeks before the burglaries, which occurred in March 2010, and that any information about the burglaries or succeeding security measures were facts learned after Hedlund had ceased to be an employee of AKS and thus could not be covered by any confidentiality agreement signed as an employee.

On April 5, 2012, Hedlund's attorney advised AKS's attorney that this suit against Hedlund was meritless and subject to dismissal pursuant to RCW 4.24.525 and that if the company did not dismiss the action that Hedlund would be forced to file an Anti-SLAPP Motion and seek an award of fees, costs, penalties and sanctions. CP 331-332.

The facts reported by Hedlund in the Indeed.com post are not confidential as they are facts which were reported in news reports and

disclosed in public records. AKS's attorneys were told this in the Georgia proceeding and provided with copies of a number of the news reports and public records. CP 275-276, 280-309.

AKS has made a practice of filing lawsuits against its former employees who report on Indeed.com facts the company or its head finds unflattering. See, e.g., CP 513-567. AKS has sued Dylan Schneider, the now-former employee who installed the security camera, and his wife, for alleged breach of a confidentiality agreement for comments he made about the company head Richard Hotes, and AKS sued its former filmmaker for posting a clip of a video the filmmaker made of one of the company's charity field trips that Hotes found unflattering. Id. While the Indeed.com site has numerous posts by current and former employees, AKS has not to Hedlund's knowledge ever sued any of those posters over favorable and flattering comments made about AKS, only those seen by AKS as negative or embarrassing.

Charles J. Hedlund worked for AKS from February, 2007 to

January 2010, as a sales coordinator making about \$4,000 a month
salaried no matter how many hours he was forced to work. CP 513, 792.

He left in January 2010 and hoped to find a better, less abusive work
place environment. CP 797-806, 830. He has no recollection of signing
the confidentiality agreement AKS claims he signed but knows he signed

nothing giving away his rights to discuss things he learned after he quit working for AKS. CP 514, 515. AKS claims it has sued Hedlund for a few sentences in a website post related to a March 2010 burglary of AKS. The burglaries occurred <u>after</u> Hedlund left AKS, and he has sworn under penalty of perjury that "everything I learned about the burglaries and the subsequent security efforts was learned after I had left my employment with AKS." CP 514. "Everything I said about the security system and measures also referred to measures taken after the burglaries and were details I had learned after I had left my employment at AKS." CP 515; <u>see</u> also CP 797-799, 801, 803-804, 806.

In August 2011 while visiting his father in Arizona Hedlund happened upon a jobs forum posting related to AKS on Indeed.com. CP 515. Indeed.com is a website designed to be an online resource for jobseekers, including job postings, salary averages, and a forum where employees and applicants can discuss a company's work environment. CP 516. This site is meant to be a resource for job seekers to ask others about a company to aid them in deciding whether or not to work there. CP 516.

On August 12, 2011, Hedlund saw two posts – one from "Jeff Hooper" left at 3:11 a.m. in the morning (CP 808) and one from "Jason Richards" left at 3:57 p.m. (CP 809) both with glowing reports of their interview experiences at AKS and expressing "love" and admiration for

AKS CEO/President Richard Hotes. The "Hooper" and "Richards" posters were responding to other posts by job applicants expressing concerns about the unprofessional and hostile antics of Hotes, corporate officer Matt Triplett and others, and the presence of surveillance cameras in every nook and cranny of the office and a creepy feeling of being watched and treated like a subject in a psychological experiment. CP 129-156, 289-305, 808-832. Hooper in his post said that he "freaking loved" Hotes and that he "would give my left nut to sit down and just have coffee with him..." CP 808. Hooper sought to justify the surveillance cameras mentioned in many of the previous posts by claiming: "If you work in military contracting proper security is a must, and usually a contractual requirement. So I fully understand the need for the security." CP 808. These posts stood out in direct contrast to numerous posts by candidates more than seven pages in length reporting abusive interview tactics and an extremely strange almost cult like environment including reports of alcohol being poured over an employee while he was working, forcing employees to stand on streets and sing Mary Had a Little Lamb to humiliate themselves, and other abusive and disturbing practices. CP 129-156, 289-305, 808-832. Hedlund, believing the Hooper and Richards posts to be by employees masquerading as job seekers to mislead the public, created a screen name "Can you Smell the B.S.?" and posted a

response at 4:30 p.m. that began "Wow. Is anyone else struck by the transparency of the previous 2 shill comments? They each reek of employees of Alaska Structures trying to save face for the company and keep people filling into the group interviews ..." CP 810, 516, 793-795. Hedlund accused the two posters of being AKS employees seeking to mislead job applicants. CP 810-811. He addressed line by line some of the comments the two posters had made. His post was broken in to two with the first posting at 4:30 p.m. due to its length and appears as if it was two posts, not simply one continuing response. CP 810-813. Hooper responded at 4:45 p.m. claiming not to be an employee. CP 811. The second part of Hedlund's post posted at 4:51 p.m. on the heels of Hooper's response. CP 812-813. The part two contains the response regarding the proper security comment initiated by Hooper. CP 812. Hedlund accused Hooper of sounding like an AKS employee who uses the screen name "Top Sales Dog" and Hooper responded. CP 813. At 5:01 p.m. Hedlund wrote back asking why Hooper would be so invested in the company after just one interview. CP 814. Richards also responded also claiming not to be an AKS employee. CP 816. Another poster under the screen name "Hah" responded to Richards saying in part to tell the forum if he actually has a reasonable and professional experience at the company. "So far the only folks with anything positive to say about the work experience are so

transparently parroting their sociopathic boss that even my dead granny can see it a mile away...." CP 817. Another poster "cultbuster" posted a link with a checklist for cult behavior suggesting AKS was a cult. CP 818. Hedlund posted a follow up comment stating that Hooper was also the poster "Best Interview Ever" and "Top Sales Dog" and an AKS employee. CP 820.

In a lengthy post Hedlund also responded to Richards challenging his representation of the interview process he experienced and describing work place abuses and mistreatment of employees and applicants, and questioning why Richards is so invested in the company that he is defending it so vigorously after just the one interview. Hedlund ended with the comment "Unless of course you are one of them." CP 821-824. Another poster "Jupiter" who had applied for a reception position stated "I sure have enjoyed reading about the wacky interviews, and am sorry for those people who actually worked at that loony bin. Many, many thanks to those who posted and warned everyone away!" CP 824 (emphasis added).

On August 16, 2011, a poster "AKS is ridiculous" commented on Hedlund's posts that questioned the legitimacy of Hooper and Richards posts and complained that AKS had had Hedlund's comments removed while allowing some other negative comments to remain. CP 825. The

poster stated: "any posts that reveal them to be the tricky conniving dishonest people they really are get removed as quick as can to help perpetuate the idea that this is just disgruntled employees complaining instead of the truth..." CP 825-826. Hooper continued to post disputing that he worked for AKS. CP 826. Hedlund posted again noting the censorship that occurs on the site where AKS can have comments almost immediately taken down as it did his posts and challenging Hooper's claim he was not an AKS employee. CP 828-829. Another poster calling himself "Jackson Five" accused "Can you Smell the B.S.?" of being the same person as "Hah" and "AKS is ridiculous" and criticizing that poster. CP 829. Jackson Five said emphatically "No, I don't work there, I did awhile ago . . . " CP 829. Hedlund responded accusing Jackson Five of still working at AKS. CP 830-831. Another poster posted saying "I want to thank everyone on this forum who posted their experiences and concerns.. the last thing we need are companies ran by egomaniacs like this taking advantage of people for their own sick pleasure!" and suggesting AKS and Hotes be investigated by the State Attorney General. CP 831. Hooper posted again continuing to dispute he was an AKS employee. CP 832.

Jackson Five subsequently admitted that he was in fact an AKS employee. See CP 19 (Hedlund response thanking him for being honest.)

Hedlund incurred legal costs and fees defending the Georgia action to protect his identity. See CP 517, 520. He did not incur legal costs and fees in the Arizona action as his father chose to proceed pro se and sit for his deposition without counsel present.

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